COURT OF APPRAIS DIVINGS III GENTLOF VASHINGTON B.

Court of Appeals Nos. 336221 and 336239

Supreme Court No. 93788.5

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

NOV 01 2016
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

CITY OF SPOKANE, a municipal corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

VICKI HORTON, Spokane County Assessor, ROB CHASE, Spokane County Treasurer,

and

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through the Department of Revenue,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent Laura D. McAloon, WSBA #31164 James A. McPhee, WSBA #26323 John T. Drake, WSBA #44314 Workland & Witherspoon, PLLC 601 West Main Avenue, Suite 714 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 455-9077

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the City of Spokane, Washington ("City"). The City was the respondent in the Court of Appeals below and the petitioner in the Superior Court mandamus proceedings.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City seeks review of the divided decision in *City of Spokane v. Vicki Horton, et al.*, filed September 22, 2016, by Division III of the Court of Appeals. A copy of the decision, published at --- P.3d ---, 2016 WL 5342591, is attached hereto as <u>Appendix A.</u>

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in declaring that this Court's decision in *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*, 47 Wash. 202 (1907), which allows municipalities to grant reasonable tax exemptions to low-income taxpayers under Article VII, Section 9 of the Washington Constitution, has been overruled sub silentio.
- 2. Whether first-class charter cities, which enjoy "all powers of taxation for local purposes," may grant a local exemption to a local property tax to senior citizens, disabled veterans and other low-income property owners under Article VII, Section 10 of the Washington Constitution.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 4, 2014, voters in the City of Spokane approved a property tax in the form of a levy lid lift to fund street repairs over the next 20 years. Acting on information provided by the Spokane County Assessor's Office, the City had promised voters that senior citizens, disabled veterans and other low-income taxpayers who qualify for a tax exemption at the state level under RCW 84.36.381 ("state exemption"), would continue to be exempted from a portion of the new levy just as they had been exempted from a portion of an expiring street bond that the levy was replacing.

After voters approved the levy, however, the Spokane County Assessor's Office reversed course and informed the City that those who qualified for the state exemption would *not* be exempt from a portion of the levy. In an effort to deliver the promised exemption, the City enacted Ordinance No. C-35231 (the "Ordinance").

In a nutshell, the Ordinance authorizes a local property tax exemption for everyone who qualifies for the state exemption—namely senior citizens, disabled veterans and taxpayers with an annual income of

¹ A "levy lid lift" is a means of collecting property taxes in excess of constitutional and statutory limits.

less than \$35,000. The Ordinance was patterned after the state exemption and was drafted with the intent that anyone who applied for and received the state exemption would also receive the City's local exemption.

In a clear abdication of their ministerial duties,² Appellants Vicki Horton and Rob Chase (hereafter, the "County") refused to implement the Ordinance. They did so in purported reliance upon an opinion letter drafted by the Department of Revenue ("DOR"), which stated that the Ordinance "creates an exemption that is not authorized under state law."

Left with no other choice, the City filed the instant lawsuit seeking a writ of mandamus compelling the County to implement the Ordinance. The Spokane County Superior Court granted the petition and issued the writ, ruling that the Ordinance was constitutional and that the County breached its ministerial duty to implement it. The court also ordered DOR to pay a portion of the City's attorney's fees for needlessly complicating the litigation.

The County and DOR appealed to Division III of the Court of Appeals, which reversed in a 2-1 published decision. The two-judge

² See RCW 36.29.100 (county treasurers are the "ex officio collector[s] of city taxes"); RCW 36.29.130 (county treasurer, "upon receipt of the tax roll, shall proceed to collect and receipt for the municipal taxes extended thereon"); State v. Turner, 113 Wash. 214, 218-19 (1920) (holding that county treasurers are "subordinate ministerial officers" with no discretion to reject taxes certified to them by a city).

majority held that the Ordinance violated Article VII, Section 9 of the Washington Constitution because it created a non-uniform tax. The majority further held that this Court's decision in *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*, 47 Wash. 202 (1907), had been overruled "sub silentio."

In a lengthy dissent, Judge Fearing explained that *Tekoa*, which had not been "overruled or even criticized," compelled a ruling that the Ordinance is constitutional. Judge Fearing further noted that the Court of Appeals, as an intermediate appellate court, had no authority to abrogate a controlling decision of this Court.

V. ARGUMENT

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) to reverse the Court of Appeals' erroneous abrogation of a municipality's right to grant reasonable tax exemptions under *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*, 47 Wash. 202 (1907). The Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) to clarify that first-class charter cities, which enjoy "all powers of taxation for local purposes," may grant a local property tax exemption to senior citizens, disabled veterans and other low-income property owners under Article VII, Section 10.

³ The panel ordered the parties to address this question in supplemental briefing after the case had been argued. The order posed the following question: "Whether *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*, 47 Wash. 202, 91 P. 769 (1907) requires this Court to affirm the City's Ordinance C-35231, or whether that case has been overruled sub silentio by later authority."

A. The Court should accept review to restore the clear rule of law announced in *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*: that municipalities may grant reasonable tax exemptions to low-income taxpayers.

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) to correct the Court of Appeals' erroneous rejection of *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*, 47 Wash. 202 (1907). *Tekoa*, which should have controlled the outcome below, holds that municipalities may grant reasonable tax exemptions to low-income taxpayers. *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 205-09. The crux of the decision is that exemptions for low-income taxpayers, when "consistent with the general welfare of the people," do not violate the requirement in Article VII, Section 9 that municipal taxes must be "uniform in respect to persons and property." *Id.*

Tekoa rejects a standard of perfect uniformity under Article VII, Section 9. Its pronouncements on this subject could not be more clear:

- "Perfect uniformity and perfect equality of taxation, in all aspects the human mind can view it, is a baseless dream." *Id.* at 205.
- "[A]bsolute equality is not to be expected." *Id.* at 208.
- Municipal taxes need not be "as nearly equal as a mathematical calculation can make them, but [rather] as nearly equal as is consistent with the general welfare of the people." *Id*.
- Municipalities may deviate from "Procrustean standards" of uniformity to avoid "grievous and oppressive" burdens on low-income taxpayers. *Id*.

- "The Constitution does not require a theoretical equality at the expense of substantial equity." *Id.*
- "The people of this state in adopting a Constitution did not hope to attain the unattainable. They *did not propose to send the tax gatherer to the almshouse*, the orphan asylum, or the nursery[.]" *Id.* at 205 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals majority declined to follow *Tekoa*, holding that the case had been implicitly overruled by more "modern" precedent. *Horton*, --- P.3d ---, 2016 WL 5342591 at *3 n.3. In a footnote, the majority opined: "modern Washington jurisprudence has emphasized the importance of strict uniformity of property taxes. So, to the extent *Tekoa* might be applied broadly to property taxes, *Tekoa* conflicts with modern jurisprudence and has been overruled sub silentio." *Id*.

When the Washington Supreme Court has expressed a clear rule of law, it "will not—and should not—overrule it sub silentio." *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 264, 280 (2009). "A later holding overrules a prior holding sub silentio when it *directly contradicts* the earlier rule of law." *Id.* (emphasis added). The doctrine of stare decisis further requires a "clear showing" that the rule announced in the earlier-decided case is "incorrect and harmful." *Id.*

Inexplicably, the Court of Appeals majority did not cite a single example of the more "modern" cases that it felt favored a standard of strict

mathematical uniformity. Instead, the majority simply proclaimed that it "must follow modern precedent." *Horton*, --- P.3d ---, 2016 WL 5342591 at *3 n.3.

The majority's new rule of law—that Article VII, Section 9 requires "strict uniformity" in matters of municipal taxation—directly conflicts with *Tekoa*'s holding that that "absolute equality is not to be expected." *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 208. Moreover, the rule finds no support in any subsequent decision. If there was a case holding that Article VII, Section 9 commands perfect uniformity, or that the Constitution prohibits municipalities from granting local exemptions to local taxes, then it was incumbent upon the majority to have cited it. No such case exists.

The majority's error is laid bare in Judge Fearing's dissent. As Judge Fearing appropriately concluded, *Tekoa* is "directly controlling." *Horton*, --- P.3d ---, 2016 WL 5342591 at *4, *6, *7, *10 (Fearing, J., dissenting). The case has not been "overrule[d] or even criticize[d]" by any subsequent decision. *Id.* at *10 (Fearing, J., dissenting). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals was powerless to adopt conflicting rule:

This appellate court remains bound by a decision of the Washington Supreme Court. An intermediate appellate court does not have the option of disregarding a higher state court's decisions that have not been overruled, no matter how old the precedent may be. . . .

The state Supreme Court may wish to revisit and overturn *Tekoa*, but only the Supreme Court holds this prerogative. We must follow Supreme Court precedence, regardless of any personal disagreement with its premise or correctness. When the Court of Appeals fails to follow directly controlling authority by this court [sic], it errs.

Id. (Fearing, J., dissenting) (citations omitted).

This Court should accept review to correct the majority's error and to restore the rule of law announced in *Tekoa*: that municipalities may grant reasonable exemptions to low-income taxpayers when necessary to achieve an equitable distribution of the tax burden. As *Tekoa* pointedly explains, "[t]he Constitution does not require [] theoretical equality at the expense of substantial equity." *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 208. Yet theoretical equality (strict mathematical uniformity) is precisely what the decision below requires. If allowed to stand, the decision will force municipalities to impose perfectly uniform taxes—at the expense of those least able to pay.

At a broader level, the decision sets a dangerous precedent for judicial review of challenges to municipal legislation. Duly enacted city ordinances are presumed to be constitutional. *City of Pasco v. Shaw*, 161 Wn.2d 450, 462 (2007). To overcome the presumption, a challenging party must prove the ordinance unconstitutional "beyond a reasonable doubt." *City of Seattle v. Montana*, 129 Wn.2d 583, 589 (1996). This is a

"heavy burden." *Rabon v. City of Seattle*, 135 Wn.2d 278, 287 (1998).

Thus, courts must uphold an ordinance "unless it appears unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." *Convention Ctr. Coal. v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn.2d 370, 378 (1986). "Every presumption will be in favor of constitutionality." *Lenci v. City of Seattle*, 63 Wn.2d 664, 667 (1964).

The Court of Appeals majority declared the City's Ordinance unconstitutional based upon its belief that a controlling decision of this Court had been silently overruled. It did so in a perfunctory footnote, without bothering to cite a single case. The Court should not condone this cavalier approach to declaring legislation unconstitutional. Regardless of the outcome, accepting review will send a message to lower courts that the presumption of constitutionality is not to be taken so lightly.

B. The Court should accept review to clarify that first-class charter cities, which enjoy "all powers of taxation for local purposes," may grant a local property tax exemption to senior citizens, disabled veterans and other low-income property owners under Article VII, Section 10.

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) to decide a question of substantial public interest and notable constitutional importance: whether first-class charter cities may grant a local property

tax exemption to senior citizens, disabled veterans and other low-income property owners under Article VII, Section 10.4

First-class charter cities enjoy all powers granted to any city under state law.⁵ The Legislature has granted code cities "all powers of taxation for local purposes" available under the Constitution. RCW 35A.11.020.⁶ Accordingly, first-class charter cities enjoy the same authority.

The core question is whether this grant of "all powers of taxation" allows first-class charter cities to implement Article VII, Section 10 at the local level. The parties agree that the answer to this question hinges on whether the Constitution prohibits legislative bodies other than the state Legislature from granting property tax exemptions. Stated differently, the question is whether the Constitution allows the Legislature to confer its exemption authority (in this case, the authority arising under Article VII,

⁴ The Court need not address this question if it concludes that *Tekoa* remains good law. If *Tekoa* has not been overruled, the Court need only decide whether granting an exemption enshrined in the Constitution itself was a reasonable exercise of the City's legislative authority.

⁵ RCW 35.22.195; RCW 35.22.570; RCW 35.22.900.

⁶ This all-encompassing grant of "all powers of taxation" is far broader than the limited authority to assess and collect taxes granted to other legislative bodies. *Cf.*, *e.g.*, RCW 35.22.280(2) (first-class cities may "provide for the *levying and collecting* [of] taxes") (emphasis added); RCW 35.27.370(8) (towns may "*levy and collect*" annual property taxes).

Section 10), upon first-class charter cities for implementation at the local level.⁷

The County and DOR argue that Article VII vests the power to grant exemptions exclusively in the Legislature. In support of that claim, the County and DOR point to Article VII, Sections 1, 9 and 10. In their view, the fact that these provisions reference "the Legislature" means that only the Legislature may depart from the uniformity requirement by granting exemptions.

There is no support for this myopic reading of Article VII. Bare references to "the Legislature" do not suggest that first-class charter cities are structurally forbidden from wielding exemption power, especially where the Legislature has explicitly issued them a broad and inclusive grant of authority. The bottom line is that nothing in Article VII, Sections

⁷ The Court of Appeals held that the City's exemption is broader than Article VII, Section 10 allows. *See Horton*, --- P.3d ---, 2016 WL 5342591 at *3 n.3 ("Moreover, the exemptions enacted by the City are broader than section 10 permits even the legislature to enact."); *id.* at *4 ("The City's response also fails to justify the Ordinance to the extent it exempts persons beyond retired persons, the group designated in section 10.").

This holding calls the constitutionality of the state exemption into question. The City's Ordinance, which was patterned directly after the state exemption, exempts precisely the same persons who qualify for the exemption under RCW 84.36.381. If the City's Ordinance exceeds the permissible scope of Article VII, Section 10, so too does RCW 84.36.381.

1, 9 or 10, or any other constitutional provision, prohibits the Legislature from delegating its exemption power to local jurisdictions.

In fact, the case law confirms that Article VII *does not* prohibit the Legislature from delegating its exemption power. Once again, *Tekoa* is instructive. *Tekoa* involved a challenge to a local street poll tax⁸ that specifically exempted women and men under the age of 21. 47 Wash. at 203. The plaintiff argued that the exemption granted to women and men under the age of 21 rendered the tax non-uniform in violation of Article VII, Section 9. *Id.* at 203-04. Importantly, the tax—and the exemption—were enacted pursuant to authority conferred upon third- and fourth-class cities by the Legislature. *Id.* (citing Laws 1905, p. 140, c. 75).

The Court began its analysis by noting that the Constitution "was not the beginning of law" in the State of Washington. *Id.* at 206. For decades before the Constitution was adopted, the Court explained, the territorial Legislature had allowed cities to assess local taxes, *and grant local exemptions*, under the authority of their city charters:

At the time of [the Constitution's] adoption[,] Washington was an organized territory with a code of laws for the

⁸ A poll tax is generally defined as "a tax on the person without regard to his or her property, income, or employment." 85 C.J.S. Taxation § 1801. Poll taxes and property taxes are subject to the same uniformity mandate under Article VII, Section 9. See Const. art. VII, § 9 (municipal taxes "shall be uniform in respect to persons and property.") (emphasis added).

government of its people. Section 2863 of the Code of 1881 provided as follows: 'Every male inhabitant of this territory over twenty-one and under fifty years of age must be assessed and annually pay a poll tax of two dollars, except paupers, idiots and insane persons, and all active firemen who have been a member of any fire company in this territory for the period of one year preceding the assessment of taxes'; and nearly, if not all, the municipal charters granted by the territorial Legislature authorized the imposition of a street poll tax with like exemptions.

Id. at 206 (emphasis added).

The Court found it particularly significant that charter cities enjoyed the power to grant local exemptions at the time the Constitution was adopted. Had the framers intended to deprive cities of that power, the Court reasoned, they surely would have said so explicitly:

Are all these charter provisions to be held for naught, simply because the Constitution contains the general altruistic declaration that taxes shall be uniform with respect to persons and property? Had the framers of the Constitution been dissatisfied with the existing order of things, would we not expect to find some more satisfactory evidence of their discontent?

Id. at 206-07. The Court thus held that granting the exemption was a proper exercise of the Town of Tekoa's authority under Article VII, Section 9. *Id.* at 208-09.

Tekoa forecloses any argument that property tax exemptions are the exclusive province of the Legislature. When it chooses to do so, the Legislature may confer its authority to grant exemptions upon local

legislative bodies. The Legislature took that step when it granted first-class charter cities "all powers of taxation" in RCW 35A.11.020. The caveat that such powers must be exercised "[w]ithin constitutional limitations" is of no moment; as this Court explained in *Tekoa*, Article VII, Section 9 does not prohibit cities from granting local exemptions when the Legislature has authorized them to do so.

The Court should take this opportunity to clarify that first-class charter cities may apply the exemption referenced in Article VII, Section 10 at the local level. Making this clarification will provide needed relief to senior citizens, disabled veterans, and other low-income taxpayers who, despite having been granted an exemption by the Constitution itself, are currently forced to bear the same municipal tax burden as everyone else.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons addressed above, the City respectfully requests that the Court accept review to (1) reverse the Court of Appeals' erroneous abrogation of a municipality's right to grant reasonable tax exemptions under *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*; and (2) clarify that first-class charter cities may grant a local property tax exemption under Article VII, Section 10.