RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

No. 93788-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SPOKANE, a municipal corporation located in the County of Spokane, State of Washington,

Petitioner,

v.

VICKI HORTON, Spokane County Assessor, and ROB CHASE, Spokane County Treasurer,

and,

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through the Department of Revenue,

Respondents.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Andrew Krawczyk, WSBA No. 42982 Assistant Attorney General Revenue and Finance Division P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528 OID No. 91027

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

V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The City's property tax must be uniform. "Tax uniformity requires both an equal tax rate and equality in valuing the property taxed." *Belas v. Kiga*, 135 Wn.2d 913, 923, 959 P.2d 1037 (1998). The City's Ordinance intentionally causes nonuniformity. The Ordinance causes a different

regular tax rate and results in a different assessment ratio for real property within the City. The Court of Appeals reached the only reasonable conclusion: The Ordinance is unconstitutional. Review is not warranted.

A. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Raise Significant Questions of Law Under The Washington Constitution.

The Court of Appeals reached the correct result when it decided what the Legislature intended by: "within constitutional limitations, legislative bodies of code cities shall have within their territorial limits all powers of taxation for local purposes. . . ." RCW 35A.11.020. Horton, 380 P.3d at 1282. The Court's interpretation was the only reasonable interpretation because it gave meaning to all words within the statute. See In re Parentage of J.M.K., 155 Wn.2d 374, 393, 119 P.3d 840 (2005) (cannot ignore terms in statute). And it is consistent with the constitutional restrictions on granting local taxation powers and uniform taxation of property. Const. art. VII, §§ 1 and 9.

To reach the meaning of RCW 35A.11.020, the Court of Appeals held that Article VII, Section 9 required that all municipal property taxes "shall be uniform in respect to persons and property." *Horton*, 380 P.3d at 1281. And while Article VII, Section 10 gives the Legislature special authorization to enact RCW 84.36.381 (a partial property tax exemption for low-income retired persons), the Court of Appeals rejected the City's

argument that Section 10 implies that it too had authority to enact its own partial exemption. *Id.* at 1281-82.

The City characterizes the Court of Appeals decision as erroneously requiring "mathematical" or "perfect" uniformity and creating a "new rule of law." Petition at 6-8. But this Court has consistently held that local property taxes must be uniform to be constitutional. See Granite Falls Library Capital Facility Area v. Taxpayers of Granite Falls Library Capital Facility Area, 134 Wn.2d 825, 833-36, 953 P.2d 1150 (1998) (applying Article VII, Sections 1 and 9). This Court has also repeatedly struck down municipal ordinances, including ordinances of first-class cities, where the municipality caused a nonuniform property tax. See Okeson v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn.2d 540, 554, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003); Samis Land Co. v. City of Soap Lake, 143 Wn.2d 798, 815–16, 23 P.3d 477 (2001); Harbour Vill. Apts. v. City of Mukilteo, 139 Wn.2d 604, 989 P.2d 542 (1999); Heavens v. King County Rural Library Dist., 66 Wn.2d 558, 563, 404 P.2d 453 (1965), State ex. rel. Nettleton v. Case, 39 Wash. 177, 180, 81 P. 554 (1905).

Finally, this Court has already explained what local property tax uniformity requires. A uniform property tax has two required components:

(1) the application of an equal tax rate, and (2) equality in valuing the property being taxed. *See Covell*, 127 Wn.2d at 878 (nonuniform where

Seattle's tax rate "on a \$60,000 house is 40 times higher than the rate on a \$2,400,000 mansion"). And under Sections 1 and 9 in Article VII, property taxes must "be uniform on the same class of property within the geographical limits of the authority levying the tax." *Pierce County v. Taxpayers of Lakes Dist. Recreation Serv. Area*, 70 Wn.2d 375, 382, 423 P.2d 67 (1967); *see also* Alfred E. Harsch & George A. Shipman, *The Constitutional Aspects of Washington's Fiscal Crisis*, 33 Wash. L. Rev. 225, 263-64 (1958) (observing that Section 9 on its own at least requires geographic uniformity). The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with these prior decisions concerning uniformity requirements.

The City's ordinance undisputedly causes a nonuniform property tax. The City applied different tax rates and had different assessment ratios for real property within the geographic limits of the City. The very intent of the Ordinance, while well-meaning, was to treat similarly situated property owned by Seniors differently than other property located within the City's taxing jurisdiction. While the City does not dispute that its ordinance creates nonuniformity, it repeatedly contends that nonuniformity is of "no moment" because it has "all powers" of taxation. Pet. at 14; *see also* City's Response Brief at 23.

But uniformity is a concern, especially with partial exemptions like the one the City seeks to implement.⁴ An express constitutional amendment has been required for each exception to the uniformity requirement to allow the Legislature to enact property tax exemptions or other tax preferences without violating the constitutional requirement. *See Belas*, 135 Wn.2d at 931; *State ex rel. Mason County Logging Co. v. Wiley*, 177 Wash. 65, 70, 31 P.2d 539 (1934). Relevant here, Amendment 47 (Article VII, Section 10) permitted the Legislature to enact a special exemption for retired persons, allowing the Legislature to supersede the requirements in Article VII, Sections 1 and 2. *See* RCW 84.36.381; *see also* RCW 84.38 (senior tax deferral program).

The City claims that via RCW 35A.11.020, it enjoys the same authority under Article VII, Section 10 as the Legislature, allowing its Ordinance to locally "pattern off of" the State's exemption. *See* Pet. at 9-11 & n.7. The Court of Appeals appropriately rejected the City's

⁴ The dissenting judge did not see an important distinction between partial and full exemptions. Exemptions are exceptions from the uniformity requirement whose authority must be expressly stated in the Constitution. With respect to the differences between full and partial exemptions, this Court recognized the Legislature can wholly exempt property by "general laws" because of the express language of Amendment 14. *See State ex. rel. Atwood v. Wooster*, 163 Wash. 659, 664–65, 2 P.2d 653 (1931) (discussing Amendment 14). However, the creation of exemptions by "general laws" did not permit partial exemption of similarly situated real property or a preferential assessment method. Each of these "partial exemptions" or other tax preferences still required a special exception. *See Belas*, 135 Wn.2d at 931; *Bates v. McLeod*, 11 Wn.2d 648, 654, 120 P.2d 472 (1941); *see also, e.g.*, Amendments 3 and 81 (homestead credit), Amendment 14 (alternative yield tax scheme for mines resources), Amendment 53 (open space tax preference).

interpretation in light of the language in Article VII, Sections 9 and 10. *Horton*, 380 P.3d at 1281-82.

First, Section 10 states "[t]he legislature shall have the power" (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals recognized that Section 10 applies only to the Legislature and not to municipal corporations. *Id.* at 1282. In addition, the language of Section 10 is not susceptible to an interpretation conferring this authority to municipal corporations. *Id.*

Likewise, the Court of Appeals recognized that the uniformity requirements applying to the Legislature's imposition of property taxes (Article VII, Section 1) are different than the requirements applied to the Legislature when they invest municipal corporations with authority to tax (i.e., Section 9). *See id.* And that language in Article VII, Section 9 contains no express exceptions. *See id.* The Court of Appeals' recognition of the plain language is wholly consistent with this Court's holdings that courts may not create exceptions from constitutional requirements, no matter how desirable or expedient such an exception might seem. *City of Bothell v. Barnhart*, 172 Wn.2d 223, 229, 232, 257 P.3d 648 (2011).

The Court of Appeals also rejected implying additional language into Section 10 to supersede Section 9's requirements. *Horton*, 380 P.3d at 1281-82. This is consistent with this Court's holdings that courts may not "engraft" or imply language into the Constitution. *See Larson v. Seattle*

Popular Monorail Auth., 156 Wn.2d 752, 757-58, 131 P.3d 892 (2006). It also should go without saying that the Legislature cannot accomplish by statute what the Washington Constitution prohibits. See State ex rel.

Distilled Spirits Inst., Inc. v. Kinnear, 80 Wn.2d 175, 180, 492 P.2d 1012 (1972). Without an express statement in Section 10 allowing the

Legislature to extend the legislative authority granted there to cities, the

Legislature could not decide on its own to allow cities to create their own partial exemptions for seniors. Thus, interpreting RCW 35A.11.020 as the

City does is unreasonable and contrary to express legislative intent. The

Legislature did not use empty words when it said "within constitutional limitations," and the Court of Appeals properly ascribed meaning to that phrase. See Horton, 380 P.3d at 1282.

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Not In Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court.

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with property tax cases, and it also is not in conflict with *Town of Tekoa v. Reilly*, 47 Wash. 202, 91 P. 769 (1907). *Tekoa* concerned a statute authorizing municipalities to impose a poll tax on the subjects identified by the Legislature. Unlike in this case, *Tekeo* did not concern the issue of a nonuniform property tax or whether a municipality could, on its own, wholly or partially exempt property from property taxation. Judge Fearing

nevertheless argued in dissent that *Tekoa* is controlling of this case. *Horton*, 380 P.3d at 1284. (Fearing, J., dissenting). The majority disagreed, giving three reasons: *Tekoa* concerned a poll tax, it did not concern authorizing cities to enact their own tax exemptions, and modern jurisprudence emphasizes the importance of strict uniformity in the application of property tax. *Id.* at 1281, n.3. The majority is correct, and its decision is not in conflict with *Tekoa*.

This Court frequently begins with identifying the type of tax, fee or charge before applying constitutional standards. *See, e.g., Harbour Vill.*Apts., 139 Wn.2d at 607-08; Covell, 127 Wn.2d at 879. In the constitutional sense, a poll tax is considered to be an excise tax and not a property tax. A.E. Harsch & G.A. Shipman, 33 Wash. L. Rev. at 284. Like an excise tax, which is imposed on a transaction or privilege, the subject of poll taxes was historically tied to the right to vote. Thurston County v. Tenino Stone Quarries, 44 Wash. 351, 355, 87 P. 634 (1906). If the Court identifies a tax as a "property tax," the Court imposes the uniformity standard discussed above. See, e.g., Covell, 127 Wn.2d at 891. If the Court identifies the tax as an "excise tax," it is not subject to the uniformity requirement. Black v. State, 67 Wn.2d 97, 100, 406 P.2d 761 (1965).

Tekoa concerned a street poll tax, which is more akin to an excise tax than a property tax. *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 203. In fact, the Court's chief

criticism of a prior ruling in a poll tax case was its reliance on an Illinois property tax case and its failure to consider cases addressing the uniformity requirement in the context of poll taxes. *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 207 (overruling *State v. Ide*, 35 Wash. 576, 77 P. 961 (1904)). Because poll taxes and property taxes have historically been treated differently, the Court of Appeals correctly declined to apply *Tekoa* in this case.

The Court of Appeals also correctly recognized that *Tekoa* did not concern the issue of whether a city could wholly or partially exempt property from taxation. *Horton*, 380 P.3d at 1281, n.3. The Legislature authorized cities "to impose on and collect from every male inhabitant of such city over the age of 21 years of age an annual street poll tax not exceeding two dollars." Laws of 1905, ch. 75, § 1. This is precisely what the town of Tekoa did; it imposed the poll tax on the persons expressly authorized by the Legislature. *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 203. The Town did not attempt, for example, to create an additional exemption for men over 50 years of age or to create a preferential class of citizens who paid a different rate. *Tekoa* does not concern the question here, whether a municipality is acting within its statutory or constitutional authority, and therefore it is not an authority of significance.

The City also mischaracterizes *Tekoa*'s discussion on territorial charter cities as evidence that cities had their own pre-statehood authority

to select the subjects of poll taxation. *See* Pet. at 10, n.4, 12-13 (quoting *Tekoa*, 47 Wash. at 206). The "territorial Legislature" exempted more persons in its road poll tax (Code of 1881, § 2863) than what the State Legislature had done in Laws of 1905, ch. 75, § 1. 47 Wash. at 203, 206-07. And as *Tekoa* qualifies, "the Legislature," not the charter cities, decided the subjects of local poll taxes in the territorial charters. *Id*.⁵

Either of the foregoing reasons provided the Court of Appeals a solid basis for that Court to conclude that *Tekoa* was distinguishable, and thus not controlling in this case. The Court also added a third reason, which was that the analysis in *Tekoa* was inconsistent with the analysis in later property tax cases. The City claims this was in error, arguing that *Tekoa* has not, in fact, been overruled sub silentio. Pet. at 6-7. But whether *Tekoa* has been overruled sub silentio for property tax purposes, or is merely distinguishable and inapplicable, makes little difference. There is no question, as even the dissenting judge below acknowledged, that this Court interprets Article VII, Sections 1 and 9 to require uniformity in property taxes, in the absence of express authority stating otherwise. *Horton*, 380 P.3d at 1283-84.

⁵ In each charter the Legislature authorized cities to impose a road poll tax on all males between 21 and 50, and excluded other individuals (varies slightly in each charter); but none of these charters authorized the municipality to create its own exemptions. *See* Laws of 1885 at pp 196, 241, 275-76, 302-03, 326, 353, 376 and 397.

C. The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court.

The City's appeal to the public interest as a basis for review is misplaced. Everyone agrees that helping low-income people is in the public's interest, and the Legislature already provides consistent relief for low-income retired persons statewide across all taxing districts. RCW 84.36.381; RCW 84.38.030. These citizens will continue to enjoy the statewide exemption if the Court of Appeals' decision stands.

The City, however, does not discuss the effects of reversing the Court of Appeals' decision. Extending property exemption authority to first-class cities would mean that first-class cities are not governed by the general provisions of the property tax code. *See* RCW 35A.84.010. It would also permit first-class cities to balkanize the classification of property within the tax code areas shared with other districts. *See* RCW 84.52.010(3); RCW 84.52.043 (changing assessors' calculations of the aggregate statutory levy limitations for junior districts and reducing junior district's levies). This would unduly complicate and impinge on the policy of uniformity in the administration of property taxes. *See* RCW 84.08.010; WAC 458-12-140.

In summary, first-class cities should not customize the statewide exemptions to their own purposes, and the Legislature did not intend that

they do so. The City's desire to avoid the effects of replacing a bond retirement levy with an increase in its regular property tax levy—while laudable—does not provide a basis to hold otherwise. The City may still explore other options to provide relief: e.g., it could lower its budget; revert to using excess levies to fund its transportation projects; or it could spend its increased revenue on programs to help low-income Seniors.

VI. CONCLUSION

The City's petition for review does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) or (4). The Court of Appeals' decision is in complete conformance with this Court's decisions regarding uniformity in property taxes. Moreover, the City's mistakes in failing to anticipate either the tax effects of the levy lid lift on low-income retired citizens or the legal defects of the Ordinance do not create an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. The Department requests that the City's petition for review be denied.